752

Motor function recovery: deciphering a regenerative niche at the neuromuscular synapse

Diego Zelada, Francisca Bermedo-García, Nicolás Collao[†] and Juan P. Henríquez^{*} ^D

Neuromuscular Studies Laboratory (NeSt Lab), Department of Cell Biology, Faculty of Biological Sciences, Center for Advanced Microscopy (CMA Bio-Bio), Universidad de Concepción, Casilla 160-C, Concepción, Chile

ABSTRACT

The coordinated movement of many organisms relies on efficient nerve-muscle communication at the neuromuscular junction (NMJ), a peripheral synapse composed of a presynaptic motor axon terminal, a postsynaptic muscle specialization, and non-myelinating terminal Schwann cells. NMJ dysfunctions are caused by traumatic spinal cord or peripheral nerve injuries as well as by severe motor pathologies. Compared to the central nervous system, the peripheral nervous system displays remarkable regenerating abilities; however, this capacity is limited by the denervation time frame and depends on the establishment of permissive regenerative niches. At the injury site, detailed information is available regarding the cells, molecules, and mechanisms involved in nerve regeneration and repair. However, a regenerative niche at the final functional step of peripheral motor innervation, i.e. at the mature neuromuscular synapse, has not been deciphered. In this review, we integrate classic and recent evidence describing the cells and molecules that could orchestrate a dynamic ecosystem to accomplish successful NMJ regeneration. We propose that such a regenerating axons to denervated postsynaptic muscle domains, and the resilience of those postsynaptic domains, in morphological and functional terms. We here describe and combine the main cellular and molecular responses involved in each of these steps as potential targets to help successful NMJ regeneration.

Key words: neuromuscular junction, synapse, denervation, regeneration, niche, motor neuron, muscle fibre, contraction

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	.2
	(1) Early NMJ synaptogenesis	2
	(2) Establishment of mature NMJs	4
II.	NMJ dysfunctions and regeneration	.5
III.	A regenerative niche at the NMJ: how do motor axons reach and reinnervate muscle fibres?	.6
IV.	Cellular and molecular clues in the maintenance of the NMJ postsynaptic apparatus	.8
V.	A fourth (rather unexpected) cellular partner at the NMJ regenerative niche: muscle satellite cells	10
VI.	Conclusions	11
VII.	Acknowledgements	11
VIII.	References	11

Address for correspondence (Tel: 56-41-2203492; Fax: 56-41-2245975; E-mail: jhenriquez@udec.cl)

[†] Present address: Nicolás Collao, School of Human Kinetics, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

[[]Correction added on 23 December 2020, after first online publication: The article title has been corrected in this version]

Biological Reviews 96 (2021) 752–766 © 2020 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made.

I. INTRODUCTION

The establishment of functional contacts between motor neurons and skeletal muscles at the neuromuscular junction (NMI) is essential for the coordinated movement of a variety of organisms. The vertebrate NMJ is possibly the bestcharacterized synapse due to its relative simplicity and easy experimental accessibility (Sanes & Lichtman, 2001). The NMJ is composed of three closely associated cellular components: a presynaptic motor nerve terminal, a postsynaptic muscle specialization, and non-myelinating terminal Schwann cells. The experimental advantages of the NMJ have facilitated the identification of the molecules and mechanisms that regulate synapse formation, growth, maturation, maintenance, and function. Indeed, synaptic ultrastructure and the principles of synaptic transmission were first characterized using the frog NMJ (Birks, Huxley & Katz, 1960; Katz & Miledi, 1969; Katz, 1971). Importantly, failures in NMJ pre- or postsynaptic components, as well as traumatic spinal cord and nerve injuries, result in motor-associated pathologies. Along with undermining the quality of life of patients, conditions resulting in neuromuscular failure represent major costs for health systems. The peripheral nervous system has much higher regenerative capabilities than the central nervous system and important research efforts have concentrated on describing and repairing peripheral nerves at the injury site. This focus has been based on experimental evidence obtained from animal models showing that, once repaired, motor axons reach skeletal muscles and motor activity is recovered. However, this is not the case in human patients, where natural differences in body size often imply a considerable delay before muscles can be potentially reinnervated. Supporting this notion, animal paradigms of delayed NMJ regeneration display a morphological synaptic repair that is not associated with positive functional motor outcomes, suggesting synaptic rather than regenerative failures after critical time points of regeneration (Ma et al., 2011; Sakuma et al., 2016). Therefore, there is a need to reshape this conceptual view in order to define a missing regenerative niche at the final functional step of peripheral motor innervation, i.e. at the mature neuromuscular synapse. With this aim, in the first section of this review we will describe the main cellular and molecular mechanisms driving NMJ assembly, maturation, and maintenance as a crucial initial step to elucidate their potential role in the regenerative process.

(1) Early NMJ synaptogenesis

The main morphological features leading to embryonic NMJ formation have been well described, particularly in murine species. As trunks of motor nerves penetrate peripheral regions where myotubes have been recently differentiated, motor axons branch to innervate a variable number of skeletal muscle fibres in an endplate band. Presynaptic differentiation is accompanied by morphological changes in motor terminals that contact the muscle fibre and begin to accumulate synaptic vesicles containing acetylcholine and other presynaptic components (a in Fig. 1A). Postsynaptic differentiation is characterized by: (i) increased expression of several postsynaptic proteins, including the nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (AChRs), specifically in the few myonuclei localized beneath the junction (named 'subsynaptic nuclei'), and (ii) the aggregation of these proteins (a hallmark of postsynaptic differentiation) in a small invaginated and folded fraction of the muscle membrane to shape the nascent NMJ (Margues, Conchello & Lichtman, 2000; Sanes & Lichtman, 2001). The assembly of functional vertebrate NMJs relies on signals and extracellular matrix molecules derived from both motor axons and muscle fibres. Initial studies suggested a neural control of early postsynaptic assembly by describing two motor neuron-derived proteins, neuregulins and agrin, as key signals for NMJ synaptogenesis. Neuregulins were described as transcriptional regulators of AChRs and other postsynaptic proteins through their binding to members of the ErbB family of receptors (named after the erythroblastic leukemia viral oncogene, with which these receptors are homologous) expressed in muscle fibres (Fischbach & Rosen, 1997; Trinidad, Fischbach & Cohen, 2000). However, the requirement of neuregulins for early NMJ assembly was later questioned, based on the presence of normal NMJs in animals where ErbB2 and ErbB4 were absent (Escher et al., 2005). Agrin is a key regulator of AChR aggregation by binding a muscle protein complex containing the muscle-specific tyrosine kinase receptor MuSK (Valenzuela et al., 1995; DeChiara et al., 1996) and the co-receptor lipoprotein receptor related protein-4 (LRP4) (Kim et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2008) (a in Fig. 2A). Activation of the agrin/LRP4/MuSK complex recruits crucial intracellular proteins for postsynaptic assembly (detailed in Burden, Huijbers & Remedio, 2018). These include the MuSK-binding proteins Dok7 (downstream of tyrosine kinase 7) and Tid1 (the mammalian homologue of the Drosophila tumorous imaginal disc 1 protein) (Okada et al., 2006; Linnoila et al., 2008), as well as the AChRbinding protein rapsyn (Phillips et al., 1993). Mice deficient in MuSK, rapsyn, Dok7, or Tid1 show no signs of postsynaptic differentiation (Phillips et al., 1993; DeChiara et al., 1996; Okada et al., 2006; Linnoila et al., 2008), demonstrating the crucial role of the agrin/LRP4/MuSK pathway for neuromuscular synaptogenesis. Even though the diaphragm muscle of agrin-null animals shows impaired NMJ morphology (Gautam et al., 1995), they display AChR aggregates in a central end-plate band during the earliest (aneural) stages of NMJ development (Lin et al., 2001). Moreover, skeletal muscles of animal models lacking motor neurons also assemble a central 'pre-pattern' of AChR clusters (Lin et al., 2001; Yang et al., 2001; Pun et al., 2002), a finding that initially suggested potential myogenic control of early AChR aggregation. In the zebrafish (Danio rerio) NMJ, it was later demonstrated that mesenchymal cells in regions where muscles are being differentiated secrete Wntllr (wingless-related integration site 11r), which binds to and activates MuSK to induce the pre-patterning of



Fig 1. Crucial cells and molecules mediating presynaptic responses in the regenerative niche at the vertebrate neuromuscular junction (NMJ). In innervated mature NMJs (A), trophic factors such as Agrin and the neurotransmitter acetylcholine are released from the presynaptic nerve terminal. ACh diffuses at the synaptic cleft and binds to nAChRs at the postsynaptic specialization to trigger muscle fibre contraction (a). In addition, released ACh binds to and activates mAChRs in terminal Schwann cells, modulating GFAP expression (b). Upon NMJ denervation (B) the degenerated nerve terminal undergoes Wallerian degeneration, leading to the denervation of the skeletal muscle fibre. Remarkably, terminal Schwann cells become active and extend processes which guide regenerating axons to the denervated NMJ. Molecularly, as ACh is no longer present at the synapse, mAChRs become inactive (c), leading to GFAP up-regulation with the concomitant activation of terminal Schwann cells. Denervation also deprives the NMJ microenvironment of retrograde and anterograde signals that help NMJ stability (d, e). NRG/ErbB signalling is increased by up-regulation of ErbB receptors in terminal Schwann cells (d). DAMPs are released from the degenerated axon as injury responses (e). These molecules directly activate terminal Schwann cells via an ERK signalling-dependent mechanism. The chemokine CXCL12 α is secreted by terminal Schwann cell processes, which signals through its receptor CXCR4 expressed in the regenerating axons (f). Thus, a chemotaxis-related migratory response is achieved on terminal Schwann cell bridges. ACh, acetylcholine; AChR, acetylcholine receptor; CXCL12a, C-X-C motif chemokine 12 alpha; CXCR4, C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4; DAMPs, damage-associated molecular patterns; ErbB, receptor homologous for erythroblastic leukemia viral oncogene; ERK, extracellular signal-regulated kinase; GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein; mAChR, muscarinic acetylcholine receptor; nAChR, nicotinic acetylcholine receptor; NRG, Neuregulin.

AChRs (Jing et al., 2009) and initiates synaptogenesis through MuSK endocytosis (Gordon et al., 2012). In the same model, it was shown that some pre-existing AChR clusters located in dorsal muscles (i.e. proximal to the spinal cord) are contacted and stabilized by motor axons for synapse formation, while AChR aggregates of more distal ventral muscles are assembled only after the motor axon contacts them (Flanagan-Steet et al., 2005). Most pre-patterned AChR clusters are not contacted by nerve terminals and become dispersed by an axon-dependent disaggregation activity triggered by the neurotransmitter acetylcholine (Marques et al., 2000; Lin et al., 2005; Misgeld et al., 2005; Wu, Xiong & Mei, 2010). Genetic approaches led to the conclusion that the main role of aneurally pre-patterned AChR clusters is likely to determine the muscle membrane domains where neuromuscular synapses will be assembled (Ponomareva *et al.*, 2006; Vock, Ponomareva & Rimer, 2008).

A third cellular party, Schwann cells, also participate in NMJ establishment. During embryonic and perinatal NMJ development, neural crest-derived myelinating Schwann cells migrate and wrap around branched motor axons that have recently innervated nascent myotubes. In turn, each motor nerve ending becomes capped by 3–6 non-myelinating 'terminal Schwann cells' from perinatal



Fig 2. Crucial cells and molecules involved in postsynaptic responses in the regenerative niche at the vertebrate neuromuscular junction (NMJ). In normally innervated NMJs (A), agrin/LRP4/MuSK signalling is triggered by nerve terminal-secreted agrin, which leads to Dok7 activation with the subsequent clustering of nAChRs mediated by rapsyn, specifically in regions that correlate with presynaptic active zones (a). Importantly, nAChR surface levels are stable and are maintained by an active turnover process (b). Distinct routes modulate either positively or negatively nAChR levels in the postsynaptic membrane, including nAChR recycling, *de novo* synthesis, or nAChR degradation (c). Skeletal muscle fibre denervation (B) leads to the loss of muscle membrane organization (d), along with decreased nAChR stability at the cell surface, triggering an increase in nAChR degradation over nAChR turnover, thus decreasing nAChR levels after long-term denervation. Moreover, in order to maintain NMJ organization, effectors of the agrin/LRP4/MuSK pathway increase their expression after NMJ injury (e), whereas the matrix metalloproteinase MMP3 secreted by terminal Schwann cells becomes inactive (f) avoiding agrin processing and therefore increasing agrin levels in the synaptic region. Also, terminal Schwann cells secrete agrin and neuregulin specifically at their extended processes (g), leading to nAChR synthesis in non-synaptic muscle regions. ACh, acetylcholine; AChR, acetylcholine receptor; Dok7, downstream of tyrosine kinase 7; LRP4, lipoprotein receptor related protein-4; MMP3, matrix metalloproteinase 3; MuSK, muscle-specific tyrosine kinase receptor; nAChR, nicotinic acetylcholine receptor; rapsyn, 43 kDa receptor-associated protein of the synapse.

developmental stages onwards. Despite the well-described function of myelinating Schwann cells in the propagation of presynaptic action potentials, the roles that terminal Schwann cells play in NMJ formation, maintenance, and remodelling, as well as in synaptic function and plasticity, are still emerging (Ko & Robitaille, 2015; Alvarez-Suarez, Gawor & Proszynski, 2020).

(2) Establishment of mature NMJs

Throughout early postnatal development, the NMJ achieves its mature complex shape due to drastic modifications in both pre and postsynaptic sites. In murine models, initial postsynaptic densities are poly-innervated by up to 12 presynaptic motor axon branches (Tapia *et al.*, 2012). During the first two weeks of postnatal life, a 'synaptic elimination' step takes place. At this stage, an activity-dependent competition process between axon terminals results in the retraction of all except one motor axon, giving rise to a single synapse per myofibre (Redfern, 1970; Favero, Busetto & Cangiano, 2012; Turney & Lichtman, 2012; Smith et al., 2013). Molecular clues modulating this pruning event include ligands secreted by motor axons, terminal Schwann cells, and muscle fibres that bind and activate diverse presynaptic receptors, such as muscarinic AChRs, adenosine receptors, and the tropomyosin-related kinase B neutrotrophin receptor, leading to the activation of signalling pathways that ultimately reduce the number of innervating axons (Tomas et al., 2017; Lee, 2020). Terminal Schwann cells play a crucial role in this process by decoding synaptic activity signals at competing nerve terminals of poly-innervated NMJs, inducing the retraction of 'weak' motor axons (Darabid, Arbour & Robitaille, 2013).

Specifically, terminal Schwann cells promote the turnover of synaptic motor axon contacts by phagocytosis and by direct competition for the postsynaptic domain (Smith *et al.*, 2013; Santosa *et al.*, 2018). Remarkably, the mechanisms described at the NMJ have been crucial to understanding synaptic elimination in central synapses, a key sculpting process to refine neuronal connectivity and improve synaptic specificity (Chung & Barres, 2009; Nadal *et al.*, 2016).

The postsynaptic domain is also strongly modified throughout NMJ maturation. During this process, AChR subunit composition varies from an embryonic $\alpha_{2}\beta\gamma\delta$ to a mature $\alpha_2\beta\epsilon\delta$ conformation. The exchange of γ - for ϵ -subunits modifies several features of the assembled AChR pentamers, such as their stability (see Section IV), as well as their kinetic and transmission properties (Mishina et al., 1986; Gu & Hall, 1988; Villarroel & Sakmann, 1996). Morphologically, the initial small 'plaque'-like uniform AChR densities are transformed into larger aggregates with complex branches in a 'pretzel'-like shape (Steinbach, 1981; Slater, 1982; Marques et al., 2000; Lanuza et al., 2002; Bolliger et al., 2010), concomitant to the invagination of the sarcolemma into primary and secondary folds (Marques et al., 2000). These folded structures concentrate both: (i) AChRs at the edges, in direct apposition to the presynaptic active zones (the axonal domains containing synaptic vesicle clusters and membrane proteins that allow for efficient neurotransmitter release), and (ii) the voltage-gated sodium channel Nav1.4 in their depth, which favours action potential generation for subsequent muscle contraction (Slater, 2008a,b; Wu et al., 2010; York & Zheng, 2017). Despite detailed morphological characterization (Marques et al., 2000), little is known regarding the molecules controlling NMJ maturation. As postsynaptic maturation implies the formation of non-innervated microdomains of the sarcolemma devoid of AChR clusters within the initial postsynaptic plaques, 'anti-clustering' signals might be required for NMJ maturation. In vitro experiments have revealed that podosomes, complex molecular structures comprised of filamentous actin and actin-regulating proteins, could be crucial to consolidate the plaque-to-pretzel transition, as their presence has been spatiotemporally related to the topological changes occurring in AChR aggregates (Proszynski et al., 2009; Pezinski et al., 2020). Recent findings show that the scaffolding intracellular protein microtubule-actin crosslinking factor 1 (MACF1) is a key regulator of podosome formation in vitro. MACF1 interacts with the AChR-binding protein rapsyn and serves as a postsynaptic organizer of microtubule and actinassociated proteins in vivo (Oury et al., 2019). Moreover, the induction of podosome-like structures by extracellular matrix proteins has also been related to the assembly and topological remodelling of AChR clusters (Chan et al., 2020). Mechanistically, this event is mediated by the trafficking and insertion of membrane-type 1 matrix metalloproteinase (MT1-MMP) to the cell surface which, in turn, is mediated by cytoskeletondependent mechanisms (Chan et al., 2020). Furthermore, distinct molecules derived either from the NMJ pre-, peri-, or postsynaptic components have been described to play specific

roles in refining the structural, molecular and functional organization of the NMJ throughout its maturation process (Shi, Fu & Ip, 2012). For instance, laminins, main components of the basal lamina at the synaptic cleft, act at both sides of the neuromuscular synapse to help the clustering of Cav2.2 calcium channels and organize active zones in presynaptic terminals, but also to promote the maturation of the postsynaptic muscle membrane (Kummer et al., 2004; Fox et al., 2007; Nishimune et al., 2008; Dombert et al., 2017). Intracellularly, the Ras-homologous-guanine nucleotide exchange factor (Rho-GEF) ephexin-1 has been shown to play an indispensable role in NMI maturation by regulating the stability of AChR aggregates through RhoA (Shi et al., 2010). Additionally, several auxiliary proteins belonging to the dystrophin glycoprotein complex (DGC), including dystrophin, α - or β -dystroglicans, α -synthrophin, and α -dystrobrevin-1 participate in NMI maturation both in vitro and in vivo (reviewed in Belhasan & Akaaboune, 2020). More recently, the two-pass transmembrane protein vezatin was identified by an unbiased approach as an AChR-associated protein. Functionally, vezatin plays a crucial and specific role in the structural elaboration and stabilization of AChR aggregates towards a mature pretzel-like shape (Koppel et al., 2019).

A drastic modification of NMJ structure also occurs in aged NMJs. In aged rodents (12 months old onwards), NMJs display an increased area of postsynaptic endplates in which AChR aggregates re-distribute in small fragments with impaired pre- and postsynaptic overlapping (Balice-Gordon, 1997). In mice, fragmented NMJs are also a primary feature of detrimental conditions that very often lead to muscle denervation. NMJ fragmentation associated with muscle denervation is observed after nerve injury or muscle fibre damage, as well as in murine models of muscular pathologies (e.g. muscular dystrophies) and neurodegenerative motor diseases, such as amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease, and spinal muscular atrophy with respiratory distress, characterized by motor neuron death and consequent NMJ denervation (Bogdanik et al., 2013; Rudolf et al., 2014; Pratt et al., 2015; van der Pijl et al., 2016; Villalon et al., 2018). Strikingly, a fragmented distribution of AChR clusters is normally present in healthy mature NMJs of other species, such as lower vertebrates and some mammals, including humans. In this regard, it should be noted that human coin-shaped NMJs are smaller, less complex, and exhibit thinner nerve terminals than murine ones (Jones et al., 2017). Also, human NMJs are morphologically stable across the adult lifespan and do not exhibit signs of age-related degeneration (Jones et al., 2017). Even though NMJ fragmentation traditionally has been considered a sign of synaptic weakness, this concept has been discussed in depth and questioned in a recent review (Slater, 2020). By integrating morphological and functional evidence the author suggests that rather than being a sign of synaptic weakness, NMJ fragmentation might be interpreted as an outcome of synaptic adaptation after injury (Slater, 2020).

II. NMJ DYSFUNCTIONS AND REGENERATION

Peripheral nerve injury can be mimicked in animal models following protocols of either nerve crush (axonotmesis), in which axons are disrupted but the connective tissue sheaths and basal lamina remain intact, leading to effective axonal regeneration and function restoration, or nerve cut (neurotmesis), in which axons, connective sheaths, and basal lamina are interrupted, leading to null functional recovery (Savastano et al., 2014). Delayed reinnervation can be experimentally accomplished by sequential nerve crushes, as well as by complete nerve transection followed by re-suture at different time points (neurorraphy) (Ma et al., 2011; Sakuma et al., 2016). Cumulative evidence using these experimental paradigms has revealed that NMJ regeneration may be achieved due to a balance amongst structural stability, plasticity, and repair, together with synaptic efficacy (Ko & Robitaille, 2015). However, the remarkable ability of the peripheral nervous system to regenerate only occurs through the establishment of permissive environments for reinnervation. These environmental conditions work together to allow key steps for successful regeneration, including: (i) the Wallerian degeneration of the axonal stump distal to the injury site, a process characterized by the disintegration of the axonal cytoskeleton and membrane rupture, both required for subsequent axonal regeneration. Axonal degeneration is followed by the degradation of the myelin sheath and the recruitment of macrophages, which serve to promote vascularization and the clearance of degeneration debris (Rotshenker, 2011; Klimaschewski, Hausott & Angelov, 2013). Importantly, at the injury site, as axons become disrupted calcium ions pass through the axolemma, triggering a signalling cascade that leads to membrane repair and to the formation of a growth cone. Also, vesicles transported throughout the axon are assembled at the injury site forming a cap that seals the disrupted axonal membrane (Hill, Coleman & Menon, 2016). (*ii*) The de-differentiation ('activation') of myelinating Schwann cells towards a proliferative phenotype, which originates tube-like endoneurial tracks inside each of the basal lamina tubes, the bands of Büngner, that will enclose regenerating axons. Here, Schwann cells provide essential substrates and guidance cues for regenerating axons travelling towards their target muscle fibres (Jessen & Mirsky, 2005; Scheib & Hoke, 2013). (iii) The stabilization of denervated muscle postsynaptic domains (see Section IV).

Analyses of the hind-limb tibialis anterior muscle in mice after sciatic nerve crush show Wallerian degeneration accompanied by complete denervation of motor endplates one week after injury. Partial reinnervation observed after two weeks turns into poly-innervated NMJs after 3–4 weeks. Restoration of a 1:1 motor axon to muscle fibre ratio – comparable to uninjured control NMJs – is reached after six weeks (Magill *et al.*, 2007). This morphological recovery is accompanied by functional motor recovery of the sciatic nerve, as walking track analyses showed a significant improvement three weeks after injury. Pre-injury values were observed six weeks after injury (Magill *et al.*, 2007). In contrast to these dynamic changes observed in the presynaptic apparatus following nerve damage, the gross morphology of the postsynaptic apparatus remains intact within the period between denervation and reinnervation, revealing an intrinsic resilience of the postsynaptic machinery upon denervation (Magill *et al.*, 2007).

Strikingly, although adult mammalian peripheral axons do regenerate, this process does not necessarily result in successful functional recovery in human injuries; indeed, proximal injuries and delayed interventions result in poor functional outcomes (Hoke, 2006). This is at least partially due to changes in the damaged nerve and in the denervated muscle, which make the distal environment increasingly nonpermissive for regeneration (Sulaiman & Gordon, 2000). Sakuma et al. (2016) elegantly confronted the paradigm that morphological recovery is the exclusive goal to accomplish motor function restoration through NMJ regeneration. In mice and rats subjected to a delayed reinnervation protocol, they verified that regenerating nerve fibres reach motor endplates and reinnervate postsynaptic domains, thus recovering NMJ morphology to a comparable extent to that observed in control NMJs. Furthermore, complete sensory recovery was achieved after prolonged denervation. However, after a critical reinnervation period (>35 days), even though a morphological recovery of NMJ structure was observed by proper pre- and postsynaptic apposition, this rescue effect was not associated with a positive functional outcome in distal muscles, as evidenced by impaired behavioural and electrophysiological performance (Ma et al., 2011; Sakuma et al., 2016). These findings suggest that the absence of motor recovery after traumatic nerve injury may not be due to the lack of muscle fibre reinnervation, nor to a permanent retraction of motor axons, but rather to impaired synaptic functionality.

Based on the aforementioned evidence, we suggest that a regenerative niche at the mature NMJ must ensure two fundamental steps for successful NMJ regeneration: the arrival of incoming regenerating axons to denervated postsynaptic muscle domains for reinnervation, and the maintenance of those postsynaptic domains, in morphological and functional terms. Below, we summarize evidence describing the cells and molecules that could coordinate the assembly of a dynamic NMJ regeneration niche.

III. A REGENERATIVE NICHE AT THE NMJ: HOW DO MOTOR AXONS REACH AND REINNERVATE MUSCLE FIBRES?

Terminal Schwann cells are active effectors of synapse elimination, modulation, and fine-tuning throughout NMJ establishment and maturation (reviewed in Arbour, Vande Velde & Robitaille, 2017; Ko & Robitaille, 2015; Sugiura & Lin, 2011). The role of terminal Schwann cells on NMJ regeneration has been well described at the morphological

level, as they are essential cells to guide regenerating nerve terminals for successful NMJ repair (Reynolds & Woolf, 1992; Son & Thompson, 1995). It was first demonstrated that two weeks after injury-induced NMJ denervation, terminal Schwann cells extend long cellular processes beyond synaptic sites. These cellular processes retract only if reinnervation occurs, suggesting that terminal Schwann cell activation is required for NMJ regeneration (Reynolds & Woolf, 1992) (Fig. 1B). Indeed, Son & Thompson (1995) demonstrated that regenerating motor axons are guided to denervated NMIs following terminal Schwann cell processes. Using a partial denervation paradigm in the soleus muscle (in which innervated NMJs were in close proximity to denervated ones) they demonstrated that terminal Schwann cell projections from denervated NMJs form bridges with adjacent innervated NMJs. As a result, axons from innervated NMJs project 'escaped fibres' that grow along terminal Schwann cell bridges to reinnervate the NMI (Fig. 1B) (Son & Thompson, 1995). Most of the stability of terminal Schwann cell bridges between denervated and innervated endplates relies on NMJ activity. In fact, administration of either pre- or postsynaptic toxins (that block synaptic transmission) immediately after partial denervation strongly decreased the number of terminal Schwann cell bridges (Love & Thompson, 1999). Moreover, recent in vivo evidence has shown that altered patterns of reinnervation observed after severe nerve injury can be explained by an altered guidance of motor axons through terminal Schwann cell processes towards a muscle different than the one they previously occupied (Kang, Tian & Thompson, 2019).

Although this evidence demonstrates that terminal Schwann cell sprouts serve as guidance substrates for axonal escaped fibres after nerve injury, the molecular mechanisms involved in terminal Schwann cell activation have not been fully elucidated. In this context, different terminal Schwann cell-derived proteins alter their gene expression after denervation, such as the growth-associated protein-43 (GAP-43), the low-affinity nerve growth factor receptor p75^{NTR}, the intermediate filament protein nestin, the cell adhesion molecule CD44, and the transcriptional factor zinc-finger proliferation protein 1 (reviewed in Sugiura & Lin, 2011). Interestingly, terminal Schwann cells from denervated frog NMJs up-regulate the expression of the glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) (Georgiou et al., 1994), a similar response to that of astrocytes following injury of central nervous system synapses (Stafford et al., 1990). Of note, GFAP expression was reduced upon electrical stimulation of the distal nerve stump (i.e. the part still attached to the muscle), suggesting that presynaptic inputs regulate GFAP expression in terminal Schwann cells (Georgiou et al., 1994). Thus, one good candidate presynaptic regulator of GFAP expression is the neurotransmitter acetylcholine, as it binds to nicotinic AChRs in the muscle membrane but also to muscarinic AChRs in Schwann cells (Georgiou, Robitaille & Charlton, 1999) (b in Fig. 1A). Experiments using the agonist muscarine in denervated frog muscles prevented GFAP up-regulation in terminal Schwann cells (Georgiou et al., 1999), suggesting that impaired signalling through muscarinic AChRs in

terminal Schwann cells is involved in their activation. In addition, *in vivo* analyses showed that the muscarinic AChR antagonist atropine induced the formation of axonal processes escaping from synaptic regions in a similar pattern to that observed after NMJ denervation; indeed, atropineinduced axonal escaped fibres followed GFAP-expressing terminal Schwann cell processes (Wright *et al.*, 2009) (c in Fig. 1B). Thus, the blockade of synaptic activity-dependent release of acetylcholine due to NMJ denervation not only precludes muscle membrane depolarization through nicotinic AChRs, but also acts as an activation switch in terminal Schwann cells through muscarinic AChRs to help motor axon guidance for NMJ regeneration (Sugiura & Lin, 2011; Ko & Robitaille, 2015; Arbour *et al.*, 2017).

Denervation elicits major cellular and molecular alterations, as it not only deprives the NMJ microenvironment of motor axons and Schwann cells, but also of retrograde and anterograde signals that normally stabilize either the NMJ presynaptic (e.g. muscle-derived neurotrophic factors) and postsynaptic domains, respectively. One such factor is the Neuregulin family of alternatively spliced factors secreted by presynaptic motor terminals and terminal Schwann cells, which exist as secreted or membrane-bound forms. Neuregulins signal through the ErbB family of tyrosine kinase receptors activating signalling pathways involved in multiple cell responses, including the formation, differentiation, and survival of Schwann cells (Darabid, Perez-Gonzalez & Robitaille, 2014). Genetic studies targeting Neuregulin-1 as well as its receptors ErbB2 and ErbB3 provide information regarding the role of Schwann cells on NMJ formation and maintenance. While Neuregulin-ErbB signalling impairment leads to terminal Schwann cell ablation (Lin et al., 2000), analyses in Neuregulin-1-, ErbB2- or ErbB3-mutant mice showed that early NMJ assembly was not affected; however, short-term retractions of nerve terminals are observed later in these animals, suggesting an important role of terminal Schwann cells on NMJ maintenance (Riethmacher et al., 1997). Different findings reveal that Neuregulin/ErbB pathways could be also relevant to inducing terminal Schwann cell activation and sprouting after nerve injury (d in Fig. 1B). First, denervation induces the up-regulation of Neuregulin/ErbB pathway effectors in terminal Schwann cells after denervation (Nicolino et al., 2009). Second, functional studies suggest that conditional induction of a constitutively active form of the ErbB2 receptor in Schwann cells of transgenic mice, or Neuregulin-1-III overexpression specifically in motor neurons, is sufficient to alter normal NMJ organization (Hayworth et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2016). Third, overexpression of Neuregulin-1 in motor neurons induces the extension of terminal Schwann cell processes, soma migration, and proliferation, as well as sprouting of the motor nerve terminal along cell processes, mimicking a denervation/reinnervation response (Hayworth et al., 2006). Thus, Neuregulin-ErbB pathways are also involved in terminal Schwann cell responses after injury likely via paracrine and/or axo-glial signalling.

Before the damaged nerve terminal leaves the NMJ synaptic region, an early response from terminal Schwann cells is achieved, suggesting that the degenerating nerve terminal is another source of glial activation. Toxin-dependent presynaptic NMJ degeneration resulted in increased levels of phosphorylated extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) specifically in terminal Schwann cells; indeed, up-regulation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)/ERK signalling pathway was shown to be essential for terminal Schwann cell activation and for NMJ regeneration (Duregotti et al., 2015). Interestingly, presynaptic injury leads to the release of intracellular mitochondria-derived damageassociated molecular patterns (DAMPs) or alarmins (Krvsko et al., 2011) (e in Fig. 1B), of which at least mitochondrial DNA and cytochrome C induce ERK phosphorylation in Schwann cell cultures (Duregotti et al., 2015). In addition, the MAPK pathway plays a central role in the control of Schwann cell plasticity and peripheral nerve regeneration via ERK1/2 and Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) via c-Jun, a key component of this signalling cascade (Arthur-Farraj et al., 2012).

Once terminal Schwann cell projections reach innervated NMJs (in the partial denervation paradigm) or incoming regenerating motor axons (in the nerve crush injury model), they guide axonal projections to the denervated postsynaptic apparatus. Recent transcriptome-based analyses showed that after motor axon damage, terminal Schwann cells increase the expression and secretion of C-X-C motif chemokine 12α /stromal cell-derived factor 1 (CXCL12\alpha/SDF-1) (Negro et al., 2017), a chemokine involved in a variety of cellular and tissue responses, including early development, organ formation, and a broad variety of responses in the immune and nervous systems (Lu, Grove & Miller, 2002; Lieberam et al., 2005; Zhu et al., 2009). CXCL12α/SDF-1 acts through the C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4), which is expressed in motor axon terminals, promoting axonal elongation in primary spinal motor neurons (Negro et al., 2017). CXCL12a or CXCR4 gain- and loss-of-function experiments in vivo showed accelerated and delayed functional NMJ recovery, respectively, indicating that nerve injury-dependent activation of the CXCL12α-CXCR4 axis is crucial to guiding motor axons to allow for efficient NMI regeneration (Negro et al., 2017) (f in Fig. 1B). Remarkably, it has been demonstrated recently that the CXCR4 receptor agonist NUCC-390 strongly promotes nerve regeneration and functional NMJ recovery after toxin-dependent presynaptic degeneration or mechanical damage (Negro et al., 2019).

From a clinical viewpoint, it is relevant to consider cumulative evidence showing terminal Schwann cells sprouting in different pathological contexts affecting the NMJ (Santosa *et al.*, 2018). For instance, in muscles from human amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients, most terminal Schwann cells project extensive cytoplasmic processes and a proportion of NMJs are mainly contacted by terminal Schwann cell projections rather than by their cell bodies (Bruneteau *et al.*, 2015). A similarly altered distribution of terminal Schwann cells has also been described in two different animal models of the disease at stages preceding NMJ denervation (Carrasco, Seburn & Pinter, 2016b). Consistently, nerve crush injury results in terminal Schwann cell depletion from synaptic regions and, consequently, in impaired NMJ reinnervation in an amyotrophic lateral sclerosis model (Carrasco et al., 2016a). Similarly, a murine model of spinal muscular atrophy exhibits NMJ disorganization and abnormally high nerve sprouting, which correlates to an exacerbated proportion of terminal Schwann cell projections. Also, the number of terminal Schwann cells per NMJ is significantly reduced in the spinal muscular atrophy model, which likely relates to the defects observed in NMJ maintenance in this mouse model (Murray et al., 2013). Even though the NMIs of a mouse model of Duchenne muscular dystrophy exhibit terminal Schwann cells with extensive cytoplasmic processes, their ability to form bridges towards adjacent innervated endplates is reduced compared to controls (Personius & Sawyer, 2005).

Taken together, these findings demonstrate that a specific inter- and intracellular molecular interplay amongst degenerating motor axons and terminal Schwann cells is a highly attractive potential target to manipulate the activation of terminal Schwann cells in order to guide incoming motor axons towards denervated skeletal muscle fibres for successful NMJ regeneration (Fig. 1B).

IV. CELLULAR AND MOLECULAR CLUES IN THE MAINTENANCE OF THE NMJ POSTSYNAPTIC APPARATUS

A well-known hallmark of the denervation of mature NMJs is the re-expression of the embryonic AChR y-subunit (Witzemann et al., 1987; Goldman & Staple, 1989; Tsay & Schmidt, 1989); however, the functional consequences of this molecular change have not been clearly established. Muscle denervation experiments performed at different ages have shown that immature AChR plaques disassemble faster than mature pretzel-like AChRs (Slater, 1982; Moss & Schuetze, 1987), suggesting that AChR pentamers formed with the foetal AChR γ -subunit ($\alpha_2\beta\gamma\delta$) might have lower stability than those assembled with the mature ε -subunit $(\alpha_2\beta\epsilon\delta)$. Even though most AChRs found at mature denervated endplates contain the γ - instead of the ϵ -subunit, they maintain a comparatively more stable morphology than immature denervated endplates (Slater, 1982; Moss & Schuetze, 1987). In this regard, although mature pretzel-like AChR aggregates maintain their gross shape for several weeks after nerve injury, detailed analyses have demonstrated injury-dependent loss and gain of AChRs in entire pretzel branches within postsynaptic regions, an effect that increases at longer denervation times (Kang et al., 2014). Understanding the metabolic dynamics of AChRs within the postsynaptic muscle domain in normal and denervated conditions is a first crucial step before potential therapeutic interventions can be designed (b-d in Fig. 2). Following *in vivo* radioactive pulse-chase, fluorescence microscopy, and

biochemical approaches, it has been determined that AChRs of innervated adult NMJs are stable in the muscle membrane, comprising half-life times of around 14 days (Xu & Salpeter, 1997; Akaaboune et al., 1999; Strack et al., 2011). In turn, different muscle-derived AChR populations coexist after denervation (Shyng & Salpeter, 1989; Fumagalli et al., 1990). According to their half-life, they can be classified as slow (13-14 days), medium (5-8 days), and fast (1 day) AChRs (Strack et al., 2011; Strack et al., 2015). The rate at which AChRs are removed from the sarcolemma and subsequently internalized into muscle fibres is increased after denervation, thus leading to AChR instability at the muscle surface (d in Fig. 2B). Importantly, impaired AChR stability is reversed in muscles chronically stimulated after denervation (Levitt & Salpeter, 1981; Andreose et al., 1993; Akaaboune et al., 1999), suggesting that once reinnervated, neurotransmission through the NMJ helps postsynaptic stability and functional recovery. In this regard, the stability of AChRs at the plasma membrane is significantly variable after different stimuli including activity blockade, embryonic development, denervation, ageing, agonist application, muscle atrophy, as well as in pathological conditions such as myasthenia gravis (Burden, 1977; Drachman et al., 1980; Akaaboune et al., 1999; Valdez et al., 2010; Strack et al., 2011). How are the traffic routes followed by internalized AChRs driven towards degradation or recycling? In heterologous CHO-K1/A5 cells stably expressing the adult muscle-type AChRs, internalization occurs via a mechanism that depends on Rac (also known as Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1), but is independent of clathrin, caveolin and dynamin (Kumari et al., 2008). Once endocytosed, AChRs traffic en route through early/late endosomes and are then degraded by a lysosome-dependent mechanism (Kumari et al., 2008). At the in vivo NMJ, AChRs are internalized and degraded under basal conditions, as systemic treatment with chloroquine, a lysosomotropic agent that blocks vesicular acidification at the endosomal (Yuvama, Yamamoto & Yanagisawa, 2006) or autolysosomal (Cain & Murphy, 1986) level, leads to the accumulation of AChR endocytic carriers. Notably, the formation of internalized AChR-containing vesicles is stimulated eightfold after denervation, a feature that further increases in chloroquine-treated denervated mice (Wild et al., 2016). Moreover, microscopy and biochemical analyses have shown that chloroquine treatment leads to increased co-localization of AChR-containing vesicles with the standard endocytic regulator RAB5 (Rasassociated binding 5), but not with the autophagy marker microtubule-associated protein l light chain 3B (MAP1LC3B) (Wild et al., 2016). These findings suggest that manipulations favouring endocytic rather than autophagic fluxes could control AChR stability within the denervated postsynaptic domain (b-d in Fig. 2).

A second key level for potential therapeutic intervention is to identify molecules and mechanisms that increase AChR stability in the sarcolemma. In this regard, a common feature of most molecular mechanisms helping tissue regeneration is that they were first characterized for their role in embryonic assembly. Although most of the molecules commanding embryonic postsynaptic assembly at the NMJ strongly decrease their expression in muscles towards adulthood, the expression of key postsynaptic proteins, such as the AChRs, rapsyn (Baldwin et al., 1988), and MuSK (Valenzuela et al., 1995) are strongly up-regulated upon NMJ denervation (e in Fig. 2B). In addition, the identification of molecular defects involved in motor pathologies has revealed that the expression of these molecules at the mature NMJ is crucial for synaptic maintenance. Indeed, the presence of autoantibodies blocking the function of AChRs, but also of those targeting MuSK or LRP4, results in different forms of myasthenia gravis (Drachman et al., 1980; Yan et al., 2018; Huijbers et al., 2019), whereas mutations in the genes encoding agrin, MuSK, LRP4, Dok7, and rapsyn are responsible for different congenital myasthenic syndromes (Brugnoni et al., 2010; Maselli et al., 2010, 2012; Palace, 2012; Nicole et al., 2014; Vanhaesebrouck & Beeson, 2019; Rodriguez Cruz et al., 2020). These observations are consistent with experimental deletion approaches in mice. For instance, conditional silencing of the muscle-specific *lrp4* gene specifically at postnatal stages leads to the dismantling of pretzel-like AChR aggregates (Barik et al., 2014). These morphological defects correlate with impaired apposition between preand postsynaptic apparatuses and reduced muscle excitability (Barik et al., 2014). LRP4 was also shown to be an essential stop signal for nerve terminals, indicating an additional role in the differentiation of the presynaptic domain (Wu et al., 2012). Together, this evidence reveals that muscle LRP4 is essential for the maintenance of the structural and functional integrity of mature NMJs by playing key roles in both pre and postsynaptic domains. Similarly, in vivo electroporation of adult muscles using a short hairpin RNA (shRNA) to silence Dok7 led to impaired motor performance and marked alterations in NMJ morphology (Eguchi et al., 2016). Although AChR clusters were accurately covered by nerve terminals, the size of the NMI pre and postsynaptic domains was significantly reduced upon Dok7 silencing (Eguchi et al., 2016). Furthermore, Dok7 down-regulation reduced MuSK and AChR expression, suggesting that Dok7 suppression represses MuSK-mediated signalling in the muscle fibre for proper maintenance of the mature NMJ (Eguchi et al., 2016). On the other hand, even though the overexpression of a construct coding for rapsyn coupled to green fluorescent protein (rapsyn-GFP) in adult mice did not affect AChR density in both control and denervated NMJs (Bruneau & Akaaboune, 2010), shRNA-mediated rapsyn silencing resulted in reduced AChR clustering (Kong, Barzaghi & Ruegg, 2004; Martinez-Martinez et al., 2009). Interestingly, the number of secondary folds as well as the protein levels of sodium channels were augmented after rapsyn silencing, which correlated with mild defects in neuromuscular transmission (Martinez-Martinez et al., 2009). In addition, the Yes-Associated Protein (YAP), a major effector of the Hippo pathway, has also been shown to play crucial roles in NMJ formation and functional regeneration (Zhao et al., 2017). The aforementioned evidence reveals the potential use of muscle-derived proteins controlling NMJ formation as therapeutic targets to help NMJ regeneration.

A noteworthy advance towards the functional targeting of NMJ postsynaptic proteins has been achieved by studies on MuSK. The first hint that MuSK could play an important role in NMJ regeneration came from nerve injury experiments. After sciatic nerve transection, MuSK expression in hind-limb muscles was strongly up-regulated 2-7 weeks after injury (e in Fig. 2B); however, this initial MuSK upregulation returned to basal levels four weeks after sciatic nerve crush, paralleling muscle reinnervation time (Valenzuela et al., 1995). In these experiments, MuSK expression increased in extrasynaptic regions whereas decreased MuSK levels were detected in synaptic regions (Valenzuela et al., 1995; Bowen et al., 1998), in agreement with evidence showing that local agrin-induced MuSK activation in the muscle subsynaptic region leads to the upregulation of MuSK and AChR e-subunit expression (Lacazette et al., 2003). Remarkably, recent evidence obtained from a patient carrying a severe early-onset congenital myasthenic syndrome associated with two missense mutations in the MuSK gene has revealed that fine control of MuSK phosphorylation, which commands AChR clustering, is crucial for NMJ structure (Rodriguez Cruz et al., 2020). The concept that MuSK activation could help NMJ maintenance was challenged in a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Paez-Colasante et al., 2015). Remarkably, NMJ denervation is observed prior to the onset of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis symptoms and before any significant motor axon or cell body loss (Fischer et al., 2004; Pun et al., 2006; Vinsant et al., 2013; Clark et al., 2016; Tallon et al., 2016). A 'dying-back hypothesis' has been proposed, by which early NMJ denervation is the primary step leading to motor neuron death (Moloney, Winter & Verhaagen, 2014). Mice carrying mutated forms of human superoxide dismutase 1, specifically its G93A mutation (hSOD1-G93A), have been widely used as reliable models of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Paez-Colasante et al., 2015). In a first genetic approach, hSOD1-G93A mice were crossed with mice expressing threefold more MuSK in muscles than wild-type mice (Perez-Garcia & Burden, 2012), which were previously demonstrated to extend NMJ maintenance in agrin-null mice (Kim & Burden, 2008). In these studies, while denervation was found to reach around 50% at postnatal day 140 (P140) in hSOD1-G93A mice, in double mutants overexpressing MuSK in the hSOD1-G93A background, NMJ denervation remained as low as <10% by P150. In addition, evident muscle denervation began 10 days later in doublemutant mice compared to hSOD1-G93A mice (Perez-Garcia & Burden, 2012), revealing that MuSK activation could play a protective role by helping NMJ stability and therefore preventing the extent of denervation. Remarkably, a pharmacological approach gave rise to comparable positive outcomes in hSOD1-G93A mice, even when NMJ denervation had already started (Cantor et al., 2018). For these experiments, a humanized anti-MuSK antibody that had been demonstrated previously to activate MuSK in vitro (Xie et al., 1997) was used. A single antibody injection at early symptomatic stage (P90) resulted in significantly delayed denervation at P110 in hSOD1-G93A mice; moreover, chronic antibody delivery resulted in improved motor performance and decreased motor neuron loss in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis model mice (Cantor et al., 2018). Remarkably, recent studies have shown that the overexpression of Dok7 (Miyoshi et al., 2017) or Neuregulin-1 (Modol-Caballero et al., 2020) by an adeno-associated virus approach in skeletal muscles at pre-symptomatic stages of hSOD1-G93A mice has important protective effects, including delayed NMJ denervation, improved motor function and, consequently, muscle fibre atrophy suppression accompanied by improved coordination and motor performance (Miyoshi et al., 2017; Modol-Caballero et al., 2020).

The evidence targeting MuSK, Dok7 or Neuregulin-1 expression demonstrates that therapeutic manipulation of muscle proteins helping postsynaptic assembly and maintenance constitutes a very interesting therapeutic alternative to prevent denervation or to extend postsynaptic resilience to allow for optimal NMJ functional reinnervation (a and e in Fig. 2).

It is interesting to note that active terminal Schwann cells are also able to secrete ligands that regulate postsynaptic proteins involved in NMJ organization and maintenance (f and g in Fig. 2B). Indeed, terminal Schwann cells at the frog NMJ express the B8-active isoform of agrin (Yang et al., 2001), whose levels increase during NMJ regeneration two weeks after nerve transection. In addition, genetic deletion of terminal Schwann cell-derived MMP3, a matrix metalloproteinase that cleaves synaptic basal lamina molecules, including agrin (VanSaun et al., 2007), stabilizes the motor endplate after injury, leading to improved functional recovery (Chao et al., 2013). Together, these findings suggest that terminal Schwann cells provide the NMJ microenvironment of active agrin after nerve injury (f and g in Fig. 2B). In uninjured NMJs, terminal Schwann cells also secrete Neuregulin-2 (encoded by a neuregulin-1-related gene) that activates in vitro AChR transcription in muscle cells expressing the ErbB4 receptor (Rimer et al., 2004) (g in Fig. 2B). Interestingly, the distribution of ectopic AChR clusters observed after NMJ denervation matched that of active terminal Schwann cell projections (Yang et al., 2001), supporting the idea that these cells collaborate and can be targeted to maintain the NMJ postsynaptic domain after nerve injury.

V. A FOURTH (RATHER UNEXPECTED) CELLULAR PARTNER AT THE NMJ REGENERATIVE NICHE: MUSCLE SATELLITE CELLS

Recent evidence suggests that another cell type is required for efficient NMJ regeneration. Muscle satellite cells are muscle stem cells that normally reside in a quiescent state all along the muscle fibre between the myofibre and its basal

lamina (Mauro, 1961). In response to muscle injury, satellite cells divide to provide myogenic precursors that will form new muscle fibres or fuse to injured ones, accounting for skeletal muscle regeneration (Yin, Price & Rudnicki, 2013). Mice engineered for conditional depletion of satellite cells displayed NMJ disruption, muscle atrophy, and force decline. In addition, satellite cell depletion resulted in deficient reinnervation and impaired postsynaptic morphology at regenerating NMJs after sciatic nerve injury. Interestingly, satellite cells in close proximity to regenerating NMJs become preferentially activated and fuse to the muscle fibres after sciatic nerve injury, suggesting that neuromuscular disruption leads to regional satellite cell activation (Liu et al., 2015). It was subsequently shown that satellite cells are the source of subsynaptic nuclei, participating in the maintenance of adult NMJs. Correspondingly, the decrease in the satellite cell population is directly related to the decrease in subsynaptic myonuclei observed in degenerating aged NMJs (Liu et al., 2017). Recent single-cell transcriptomic analyses show that different gene-expression programs are triggered in satellite cells after neuromuscular degeneration or muscle trauma, revealing the existence of different subsets of satellite cells for each condition. This notion is reinforced by data revealing that although neurodegeneration activates satellite cells in a comparable fashion to ageing, aged muscles display impaired fusion of satellite cells after NMJ denervation; in turn, genetic rescue of motor neurons in an amyotrophic lateral sclerosis model restores the number of satellite cells to that seen in young healthy muscles (P. Ulintz, J. Larouche, M. Mohiuddin, J.C. Macias, S.J. Kurpiers, W. Liu, J.J. Choi, L.A. Brown, J.F. Markworth, K. de Silva, B.D. Levi, S.D. Merajver, J.V. Chakkalakal, Y.C. Jang, S.V. Brooks & C.A. Aguilar, unpublished data). Even though this cumulative evidence supports the notion that satellite cells are attractive targets to improve NMI regeneration, the molecular mechanisms involved in their role in NMJ maintenance still remain unknown.

VI. CONCLUSIONS

- (1) In models of nerve injury and motor diseases, most therapeutic approaches have focused on improving nerve repair or preventing neurons from dying. Few studies have focused on the initial degeneration of the neuromuscular synapse. Based on the evidence discussed within this review, possible therapeutic interventions should include, on the one hand, motor axon growth and guidance towards the denervated postsynaptic domain and, on the other, maintenance of the synaptic properties of those domains.
- (2) Although loss-of-function experiments have provided potential target molecules to intervene in both processes, such as LRP4, Dok7, or MMP3 down-regulation, gain-of-function experiments in injured or degenerating NMJ models are still relatively scarce.

However, some intervention studies are emerging. One remarkable example of this in the presynaptic side is the application of the CXCR receptor agonist NUCC-390, or recombinant CXCL12α in vivo; both interventions accelerate neurotransmission rescue after toxin- and mechanically induced nerve damage (Negro et al., 2017). At the postsynaptic side, genetic and most importantly, antibody-mediated activation of MuSK prevents NMJ denervation in a model of amvotrophic lateral sclerosis (Cantor et al., 2018). Also, muscle overexpression of Dok7 (Miyoshi et al., 2017) or Neuregulin-1 (Modol-Caballero et al., 2020) through a gene therapy approach has shown important protective responses in animal models of the same disease. From a clinical viewpoint, these studies show that manipulation of NMJ postsynaptic proteins could result in a significant improvement in the quality of life of patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis.

- (3)An additional important goal of possible therapeutic interventions is to maximize the chances that local positive effects on NMJ regeneration will not be accompanied by undesired side effects in other body regions. In this regard, a recent article showed that local injection of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) plus insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1)-containing hydrogels, specifically at the distal site of sciatic nerve injury (i.e. towards the NMJ), promoted functional reinnervation and muscle regeneration (Raimondo et al., 2019). This study also reveals that NMJ regeneration strategies are not only useful after damage or degeneration, but also for muscle transplantation interventions, such as those focused on facial nerve rescue after paralysis, where successful functional NMI regeneration must also take place.
- (4) In summary, defining the cellular and molecular components of the regenerative NMJ niche, together with effective time frames and intervention methods where the NMJ is compromised, should concentrate future research efforts to achieve successful functional recovery of neuromuscular connectivity.

VII. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Research at the Neuromuscular Studies Laboratory (NeSt Lab) is supported by the Chilean National Fund for Scientific and Technological Development FONDECYT 1170614 grant. We thank NeSt Lab members for significant comments on this review and Felipe Serrano for the artwork. Also, we thank researchers worldwide who have significantly contributed to the understanding of synaptic assembly, function, and repair using the NMJ as a model. We apologize to the authors of the many interesting articles that we have not been able to include in this review due to space constraints.

VIII. REFERENCES

- AKAABOUNE, M., CULICAN, S. M., TURNEY, S. G. & LICHTMAN, J. W. (1999). Rapid and reversible effects of activity on acetylcholine receptor density at the neuromuscular junction in vivo. *Science* 286(5439), 503–507.
- ALVAREZ-SUAREZ, P., GAWOR, M. & PROSZYNSKI, T. J. (2020). Perisynaptic schwann cells - The multitasking cells at the developing neuromuscular junctions. *Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology* **104**, 31–38.
- ANDREOSE, J. S., XU, R., LOMO, T., SALPETER, M. M. & FUMAGALLI, G. (1993). Degradation of two AChR populations at rat neuromuscular junctions: regulation in vivo by electrical stimulation. *Journal of Neuroscience* 13(8), 3433–3438.
- ARBOUR, D., VANDE VELDE, C. & ROBITAILLE, R. (2017). New perspectives on amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: the role of glial cells at the neuromuscular junction. *Journal of Physiology* 595(3), 647–661.
- ARTHUR-FARRAJ, P. J., LATOUCHE, M., WILTON, D. K., QUINTES, S., CHABROL, E., BANERJEE, A., WOODHOO, A., JENKINS, B., RAHMAN, M., TURMAINE, M., WICHER, G. K., MITTER, R., GREENSMITH, L., BEHRENS, A., RAIVICH, G., et al. (2012). c-Jun reprograms Schwann cells of injured nerves to generate a repair cell essential for regeneration. *Neuron* **75**(4), 633–647.
- BALDWIN, T. J., THERIOT, J. A., YOSHIHARA, C. M. & BURDEN, S. J. (1988). Regulation of transcript encoding the 43K subsynaptic protein during development and after denervation. *Development* 104(4), 557–564.
- BALICE-GORDON, R. J. (1997). Age-related changes in neuromuscular innervation. Muscle and Nerve. Supplement 5, S83–S87.
- BARIK, A., LU, Y., SATHYAMURTHY, A., BOWMAN, A., SHEN, C., LI, L., XIONG, W. C. & MEI, L. (2014). LRP4 is critical for neuromuscular junction maintenance. *Journal of Neuroscience* 34(42), 13892–13905.
- BELHASAN, D. C. & AKAABOUNE, M. (2020). The role of the dystrophin glycoprotein complex on the neuromuscular system. *Neuroscience Letters* 722, 134833.
- BIRKS, R., HUXLEY, H. E. & KATZ, B. (1960). The fine structure of the neuromuscular junction of the frog. *Journal of Physiology* **150**, 134–144.
- BOGDANIK, L. P., SLEIGH, J. N., TIAN, C., SAMUELS, M. E., BEDARD, K., SEBURN, K. L. & BURGESS, R. W. (2013). Loss of the E3 ubiquitin ligase LRSAM1 sensitizes peripheral axons to degeneration in a mouse model of Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease. *Disease Models & Mechanisms* 6(3), 780–792.
- BOLLIGER, M. F., ZURLINDEN, A., LUSCHER, D., BUTIKOFER, L., SHAKHOVA, O., FRANCOLINI, M., KOZLOV, S. V., CINELLI, P., STEPHAN, A., KISTLER, A. D., RULICKE, T., PELCZAR, P., LEDERMANN, B., FUMAGALLI, G., GLOOR, S. M., et al. (2010). Specific proteolytic cleavage of agrin regulates maturation of the neuromuscular junction. *Journal of Cell Science* **123**(Pt 22), 3944–3955.
- BOWEN, D. C., PARK, J. S., BODINE, S., STARK, J. L., VALENZUELA, D. M., STITT, T. N., YANCOPOULOS, G. D., LINDSAY, R. M., GLASS, D. J. & DISTEFANO, P. S. (1998). Localization and regulation of MuSK at the neuromuscular junction. *Developmental Biology* **199**(2), 309–319.
- BRUGNONI, R., MAGGI, L., CANIONI, E., MORONI, I., PANTALEONI, C., D'ARRIGO, S., RIVA, D., CORNELIO, F., BERNASCONI, P. & MANTEGAZZA, R. (2010). Identification of previously unreported mutations in CHRNA1, CHRNE and RAPSN genes in three unrelated Italian patients with congenital myasthenic syndromes. *Journal of Neurology* 257(7), 1119–1123.
- BRUNEAU, E. G. & AKAABOUNE, M. (2010). Dynamics of the rapsyn scaffolding protein at the neuromuscular junction of live mice. *Journal of Neuroscience* 30(2), 614–619.
- BRUNETEAU, G., BAUCHE, S., GONZALEZ DE AGUILAR, J. L., BROCHIER, G., MANDJEE, N., TANGUY, M. L., HUSSAIN, G., BEHIN, A., KHIAMI, F., SARIALI, E., HELL-REMY, C., SALACHAS, F., PRADAT, P. F., LACOMBLEZ, L., NICOLE, S., et al. (2015). Endplate denervation correlates with Nogo-A muscle expression in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol* 2(4), 362–372.
- BURDEN, S. (1977). Development of the neuromuscular junction in the chick embryo: the number, distribution, and stability of acetylcholine receptors. *Developmental Biology* 57(2), 317–329.
- BURDEN, S. J., HUIJBERS, M. G. & REMEDIO, L. (2018). Fundamental molecules and mechanisms for forming and maintaining neuromuscular synapses. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 19(2), 490.
- CAIN, C. C. & MURPHY, R. F. (1986). Growth inhibition of 3T3 fibroblasts by lysosomotropic amines: correlation with effects on intravesicular pH but not vacuolation. *Journal of Cellular Physiology* **129**(1), 65–70.
- CANTOR, S., ZHANG, W., DELESTREE, N., REMEDIO, L., MENTIS, G. Z. & BURDEN, S. J. (2018). Preserving neuromuscular synapses in ALS by stimulating MuSK with a therapeutic agonist antibody. *Elife* 7, e34375.
- CARRASCO, D. I., BAHR, B. A., SEBURN, K. L. & PINTER, M. J. (2016a). Abnormal response of distal Schwann cells to denervation in a mouse model of motor neuron disease. *Experimental Neurology* 278, 116–126.
- CARRASCO, D. I., SEBURN, K. L. & PINTER, M. J. (2016b). Altered terminal Schwann cell morphology precedes denervation in SOD1 mice. *Experimental Neurology* 275(Pt 1), 172–181.

- CHAN, Z. C., KWAN, H. R., WONG, Y. S., JIANG, Z., ZHOU, Z., TAM, K. W., CHAN, Y. S., CHAN, C. B. & LEE, C. W. (2020). Site-directed MT1-MMP trafficking and surface insertion regulate AChR clustering and remodeling at developing NMJs. *Elife* **9**, e54379.
- CHAO, T., FRUMP, D., LIN, M., CAIOZZO, V. J., MOZAFFAR, T., STEWARD, O. & GUPTA, R. (2013). Matrix metalloproteinase 3 deletion preserves denervated motor endplates after traumatic nerve injury. *Annals of Neurology* 73(2), 210–223.
- CHUNG, W. S. & BARRES, B. A. (2009). Sclective remodeling: refining neural connectivity at the neuromuscular junction. *PLoS Biology* 7(8), e1000185.
- CLARK, J. A., SOUTHAM, K. A., BLIZZARD, C. A., KING, A. E. & DICKSON, T. C. (2016). Axonal degeneration, distal collateral branching and neuromuscular junction architecture alterations occur prior to symptom onset in the SOD1 (G93A) mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Journal of Chemical Neuroanatomy* **76**(Pt A), 35–47.
- DARABID, H., ARBOUR, D. & ROBITAILLE, R. (2013). Glial cells decipher synaptic competition at the mammalian neuromuscular junction. *Journal of Neuroscience* 33(4), 1297–1313.
- DARABID, H., PEREZ-GONZALEZ, A. P. & ROBITAILLE, R. (2014). Neuromuscular synaptogenesis: coordinating partners with multiple functions. *Nature Reviews: Neuroscience* 15(11), 703–718.
- DECHIARA, T. M., BOWEN, D. C., VALENZUELA, D. M., SIMMONS, M. V., POUEYMIROU, W. T., THOMAS, S., KINETZ, E., COMPTON, D. L., ROJAS, E., PARK, J. S., SMITH, C., DISTEFANO, P. S., GLASS, D. J., BURDEN, S. J. & YANCOPOULOS, G. D. (1996). The receptor tyrosine kinase MuSK is required for neuromuscular junction formation in vivo. *Cell* 85(4), 501–512.
- DOMBERT, B., BALK, S., LUNINGSCHROR, P., MORADI, M., SIVADASAN, R., SAAL-BAUERNSCHUBERT, L. & JABLONKA, S. (2017). BDNF/trkb induction of calcium transients through Cav2.2 calcium channels in motoneurons corresponds to Factin assembly and growth cone formation on beta2-chain laminin (221). Frontiers in Molecular. Neuroscience 10, 346.
- DRACHMAN, D. B., ADAMS, R. N., STANLEY, E. F. & PESTRONK, A. (1980). Mechanisms of acetylcholine receptor loss in myasthenia gravis. *Journal of Neurology*, *Neurosurgery and Psychiatry* 43(7), 601–610.
- DUREGOTTI, E., NEGRO, S., SCORZETO, M., ZORNETTA, I., DICKINSON, B. C., CHANG, C. J., MONTECUCCO, C. & RIGONI, M. (2015). Mitochondrial alarmins released by degenerating motor axon terminals activate perisynaptic Schwann cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 112(5), E497–E505.
- EGUCHI, T., TEZUKA, T., MIYOSHI, S. & YAMANASHI, Y. (2016). Postnatal knockdown of dok-7 gene expression in mice causes structural defects in neuromuscular synapses and myasthenic pathology. *Genes to Cells* **21**(6), 670–676.
- ESCHER, P., LACAZETTE, E., COURTET, M., BLINDENBACHER, A., LANDMANN, L., BEZAKOVA, G., LLOYD, K. C., MUELLER, U. & BRENNER, H. R. (2005). Synapses form in skeletal muscles lacking neuregulin receptors. *Science* **308**(5730), 1920–1923.
- FAVERO, M., BUSETTO, G. & CANGIANO, A. (2012). Spike timing plays a key role in synapse elimination at the neuromuscular junction. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America 109(25), E1667–E1675.
- FISCHBACH, G. D. & ROSEN, K. M. (1997). ARIA: a neuromuscular junction neurogulin. Annual Review of Neuroscience 20, 429–458.
- FISCHER, L. R., CULVER, D. G., TENNANT, P., DAVIS, A. A., WANG, M., CASTELLANO-SANCHEZ, A., KHAN, J., POLAK, M. A. & GLASS, J. D. (2004). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis is a distal axonopathy: evidence in mice and man. *Experimental Neurology* 185(2), 232–240.
- FLANAGAN-STEET, H., FOX, M. A., MEYER, D. & SANES, J. R. (2005). Neuromuscular synapses can form in vivo by incorporation of initially aneural postsynaptic specializations. *Development* 132(20), 4471–4481.
- FOX, M. A., SANES, J. R., BORZA, D. B., ESWARAKUMAR, V. P., FASSLER, R., HUDSON, B. G., JOHN, S. W., NINOMIYA, Y., PEDCHENKO, V., PFAFF, S. L., RHEAULT, M. N., SADO, Y., SEGAL, Y., WERLE, M. J. & UMEMORI, H. (2007). Distinct target-derived signals organize formation, maturation, and maintenance of motor nerve terminals. *Cell* **129**(1), 179–193.
- FUMAGALLI, G., BALBI, S., CANGIANO, A. & LOMO, T. (1990). Regulation of turnover and number of acetylcholine receptors at neuromuscular junctions. *Neuron* 4(4), 563–569.
- GAUTAM, M., NOAKES, P. G., MUDD, J., NICHOL, M., CHU, G. C., SANES, J. R. & MERLIE, J. P. (1995). Failure of postsynaptic specialization to develop at neuromuscular junctions of rapsyn-deficient mice. *Nature* 377(6546), 232–236.
- GEORGIOU, J., ROBITAILLE, R. & CHARLTON, M. P. (1999). Muscarinic control of cytoskeleton in perisynaptic glia. *Journal of Neuroscience* 19(10), 3836–3846.
- GEORGIOU, J., ROBITAILLE, R., TRIMBLE, W. S. & CHARLTON, M. P. (1994). Synaptic regulation of glial protein expression in vivo. *Neuron* 12(2), 443–455.
- GOLDMAN, D. & STAPLE, J. (1989). Spatial and temporal expression of acetylcholine receptor RNAs in innervated and denervated rat soleus muscle. *Neuron* 3(2), 219–228.
- GORDON, L. R., GRIBBLE, K. D., SYRETT, C. M. & GRANATO, M. (2012). Initiation of synapse formation by Wnt-induced MuSK endocytosis. *Development* 139(5), 1023–1033.

- GU, Y. & HALL, Z. W. (1988). Immunological evidence for a change in subunits of the acetylcholine receptor in developing and denervated rat muscle. *Neuron* 1(2), 117–125.
- HAYWORTH, C. R., MOODY, S. E., CHODOSH, L. A., KRIEG, P., RIMER, M. & THOMPSON, W. J. (2006). Induction of neurogulin signaling in mouse schwann cells in vivo mimics responses to denervation. *Journal of Neuroscience* 26(25), 6873–6884.
- HILL, C. S., COLEMAN, M. P. & MENON, D. K. (2016). Traumatic axonal injury: mechanisms and translational opportunities. *Trends in Neurosciences* 39(5), 311–324.

HOKE, A. (2006). Mechanisms of Disease: what factors limit the success of peripheral nerve regeneration in humans? *Nature Clinical Practice: Neurology* 2(8), 448–454.

- HUIJBERS, M. G., VERGOOSSEN, D. L., FILLIE-GRIJPMA, Y. E., VAN ES, I. E., KONING, M. T., SLOT, L. M., VEELKEN, H., PLOMP, J. J., VAN DER MAAREL, S. M. & VERSCHUUREN, J. J. (2019). MuSK myasthenia gravis monoclonal antibodies: Valency dictates pathogenicity. *Neurology Neuroimmunology & Neuroinflammation* 6(3), c547.
- JESSEN, K. R. & MIRSKY, R. (2005). The origin and development of glial cells in peripheral nerves. *Nature Reviews: Neuroscience* 6(9), 671–682.
- JING, L., LEFEBVRE, J. L., GORDON, L. R. & GRANATO, M. (2009). What signals organize synaptic prepattern and axon guidance through the zebrafish unplugged/MuSK receptor. *Neuron* 61(5), 721–733.
- JONES, R. A., HARRISON, C., EATON, S. L., LLAVERO HURTADO, M., GRAHAM, L. C., ALKHAMMASH, L., OLADIRAN, O. A., GALE, A., LAMONT, D. J., SIMPSON, H., SIMMEN, M. W., SOELLER, C., WISHART, T. M. & GILLINGWATER, T. H. (2017). Cellular and Molecular Anatomy of the Human Neuromuscular Junction. *Cell Reports* 21(9), 2348–2356.
- KANG, H., TIAN, L., MIKESH, M., LICHTMAN, J. W. & THOMPSON, W. J. (2014). Terminal Schwann cells participate in neuromuscular synapse remodeling during reinnervation following nerve injury. *Journal of Neuroscience* 34(18), 6323–6333.
- KANG, H., TIAN, L. & THOMPSON, W. J. (2019). Schwann cell guidance of nerve growth between synaptic sites explains changes in the pattern of muscle innervation and remodeling of synaptic sites following peripheral nerve injuries. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 527(8), 1388–1400.
- KATZ, B. (1971). Quantal mechanism of neural transmitter release. Science 173(3992), 123–126.
- KATZ, B. & MILEDI, R. (1969). Spontaneous and evoked activity of motor nerve endings in calcium Ringer. *Journal of Physiology* 203(3), 689–706.
- KIM, N. & BURDEN, S. J. (2008). MuSK controls where motor axons grow and form synapses. *Nature Neuroscience* 11(1), 19–27.
- KIM, N., STIEGLER, A. L., CAMERON, T. O., HALLOCK, P. T., GOMEZ, A. M., HUANG, J. H., HUBBARD, S. R., DUSTIN, M. L. & BURDEN, S. J. (2008). Lrp4 is a receptor for Agrin and forms a complex with MuSK. *Cell* 135(2), 334–342.
- KLIMASCHEWSKI, L., HAUSOTT, B. & ANGELOV, D. N. (2013). The pros and cons of growth factors and cytokines in peripheral axon regeneration. *International Review of Neurobiology* **108**, 137–171.
- KO, C. P. & ROBITAILLE, R. (2015). Perisynaptic Schwann cells at the neuromuscular synapse: adaptable, multitasking glial cells. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 7 (10), a020503.
- KONG, X. C., BARZAGHI, P. & RUEGG, M. A. (2004). Inhibition of synapse assembly in mammalian muscle in vivo by RNA interference. *EMBO Reports* 5(2), 183–188.
- KOPPEL, N., FRIESE, M. B., CARDASIS, H. L., NEUBERT, T. A. & BURDEN, S. J. (2019). Vezatin is required for the maturation of the neuromuscular synapse. *Molecular Biology of the Cell* **30**(20), 2571–2583.
- KRYSKO, D. V., AGOSTINIS, P., KRYSKO, O., GARG, A. D., BACHERT, C., LAMBRECHT, B. N. & VANDENABEELE, P. (2011). Emerging role of damageassociated molecular patterns derived from mitochondria in inflammation. *Trends* in *Immunology* **32**(4), 157–164.
- KUMARI, S., BORRONI, V., CHAUDHRY, A., CHANDA, B., MASSOL, R., MAYOR, S. & BARRANTES, F. J. (2008). Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor is internalized via a Racdependent, dynamin-independent endocytic pathway. *Journal of Cell Biology* 181(7), 1179–1193.
- KUMMER, T. T., MISGELD, T., LICHTMAN, J. W. & SANES, J. R. (2004). Nerveindependent formation of a topologically complex postsynaptic apparatus. *Journal* of Cell Biology 164(7), 1077–1087.
- LACAZETTE, E., LE CALVEZ, S., GAJENDRAN, N. & BRENNER, H. R. (2003). A novel pathway for MuSK to induce key genes in neuromuscular synapse formation. *Journal* of Cell Biology 161(4), 727–736.
- LANUZA, M. A., GARCIA, N., SANTAFE, M., GONZALEZ, C. M., ALONSO, I., NELSON, P. G. & TOMAS, J. (2002). Pre- and postsynaptic maturation of the neuromuscular junction during neonatal synapse elimination depends on protein kinase C. *Journal of Neuroscience Research* 67(5), 607–617.
- LEE, Y. I. (2020). Developmental neuromuscular synapse elimination: Activitydependence and potential downstream effector mechanisms. *Neuroscience Letters* 718, 134724.
- LEE, Y. I., LI, Y., MIKESH, M., SMITH, I., NAVE, K. A., SCHWAB, M. H. & THOMPSON, W. J. (2016). Neuregulin1 displayed on motor axons regulates

terminal Schwann cell-mediated synapse elimination at developing neuromuscular junctions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **113** (4), E479–E487.

- LEVITT, T. A. & SALPETER, M. M. (1981). Denervated endplates have a dual population of junctional acetylcholine receptors. *Nature* 291(5812), 239–241.
- LIEBERAM, I., AGALLIU, D., NAGASAWA, T., ERICSON, J. & JESSELL, T. M. (2005). A Cxcl12-CXCR4 chemokine signaling pathway defines the initial trajectory of mammalian motor axons. *Neuron* 47(5), 667–679.
- LIN, W., BURGESS, R. W., DOMINGUEZ, B., PFAFF, S. L., SANES, J. R. & LEE, K. F. (2001). Distinct roles of nerve and muscle in postsynaptic differentiation of the neuromuscular synapse. *Nature* **410**(6832), 1057–1064.
- LIN, W., DOMINGUEZ, B., YANG, J., ARYAL, P., BRANDON, E. P., GAGE, F. H. & LEE, K. F. (2005). Neurotransmitter acetylcholine negatively regulates neuromuscular synapse formation by a Cdk5-dependent mechanism. *Neuron* 46(4), 569–579.
- LIN, W., SANCHEZ, H. B., DEERINCK, T., MORRIS, J. K., ELLISMAN, M. & LEE, K. F. (2000). Aberrant development of motor axons and neuromuscular synapses in erbB2-deficient mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 97(3), 1299–1304.
- LINNOILA, J., WANG, Y., YAO, Y. & WANG, Z. Z. (2008). A mammalian homolog of Drosophila tumorous imaginal discs, Tid1, mediates agrin signaling at the neuromuscular junction. Neuron 60(4), 625–641.
- LIU, W., KLOSE, A., FORMAN, S., PARIS, N. D., WEI-LAPIERRE, L., CORTES-LOPEZ, M., TAN, A., FLAHERTY, M., MIURA, P., DIRKSEN, R. T. & CHAKKALAKAL, J. V. (2017). Loss of adult skeletal muscle stem cells drives agerelated neuromuscular junction degeneration. *Elife* 6, e26464.
- LIU, W., WEI-LAPIERRE, L., KLOSE, A., DIRKSEN, R. T. & CHAKKALAKAL, J. V. (2015). Inducible depletion of adult skeletal muscle stem cells impairs the regeneration of neuromuscular junctions. *Elife* **4**, e09221.
- LOVE, F. M. & THOMPSON, W. J. (1999). Glial cells promote muscle reinnervation by responding to activity-dependent postsynaptic signals. *Journal of Neuroscience* 19(23), 10390–10396.
- LU, M., GROVE, E. A. & MILLER, R. J. (2002). Abnormal development of the hippocampal dentate gyrus in mice lacking the CXCR4 chemokine receptor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 99(10), 7090–7095.
- MA, C. H., OMURA, T., COBOS, E. J., LATREMOLIERE, A., GHASEMLOU, N., BRENNER, G. J., VAN VEEN, E., BARRETT, L., SAWADA, T., GAO, F., COPPOLA, G., GERTLER, F., COSTIGAN, M., GESCHWIND, D. & WOOLF, C. J. (2011). Accelerating axonal growth promotes motor recovery after peripheral nerve injury in mice. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 121(11), 4332–4347.
- MAGILL, C. K., TONG, A., KAWAMURA, D., HAYASHI, A., HUNTER, D. A., PARSADANIAN, A., MACKINNON, S. E. & MYCKATYN, T. M. (2007). Reinnervation of the tibialis anterior following sciatic nerve crush injury: a confocal microscopic study in transgenic mice. *Experimental Neurology* **207**(1), 64–74.
- MARQUES, M. J., CONCHELLO, J. A. & LICHTMAN, J. W. (2000). From plaque to pretzel: fold formation and acetylcholine receptor loss at the developing neuromuscular junction. *Journal of Neuroscience* 20(10), 3663–3675.
- MARTINEZ-MARTINEZ, P., PHERNAMBUCQ, M., STEINBUSCH, L., SCHAEFFER, L., BERRIH-AKNIN, S., DUIMEL, H., FREDERIK, P., MOLENAAR, P., DE BAETS, M. H. & LOSEN, M. (2009). Silencing rapsyn in vivo decreases acetylcholine receptors and augments sodium channels and secondary postsynaptic membrane folding. *Neurobiology of Disease* 35(1), 14–23.
- MASELLI, R. A., ARREDONDO, J., CAGNEY, O., NG, J. J., ANDERSON, J. A., WILLIAMS, C., GERKE, B. J., SOLIVEN, B. & WOLLMANN, R. L. (2010). Mutations in MUSK causing congenital myasthenic syndrome impair MuSK-Dok-7 interaction. *Human Molecular Genetics* **19**(12), 2370–2379.
- MASELLI, R. A., ARREDONDO, J., FERNS, M. J. & WOLLMANN, R. L. (2012). Synaptic basal lamina-associated congenital myasthenic syndromes. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1275, 36–48.
- MAURO, A. (1961). Satellite cell of skeletal muscle fibers. Journal of Biophysical and Biochemical Cytology 9, 493-495.
- MISGELD, T., KUMMER, T. T., LICHTMAN, J. W. & SANES, J. R. (2005). Agrin promotes synaptic differentiation by counteracting an inhibitory effect of neurotransmitter. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 102(31), 11088–11093.
- MISHINA, M., TAKAI, T., IMOTO, K., NODA, M., TAKAHASHI, T., NUMA, S., METHFESSEL, C. & SAKMANN, B. (1986). Molecular distinction between fetal and adult forms of muscle acetylcholine receptor. *Nature* **321**(6068), 406–411.
- MIYOSHI, S., TEZUKA, T., ARIMURA, S., TOMONO, T., OKADA, T. & YAMANASHI, Y. (2017). DOK7 gene therapy enhances motor activity and life span in ALS model mice. *EMBO Molecular Medicine* 9(7), 880–889.
- MODOL-CABALLERO, G., HERRANDO-GRABULOSA, M., GARCIA-LAREU, B., SOLANES, N., VERDES, S., OSTA, R., FRANCOS-QUIJORNA, I., LOPEZ-VALES, R., CALVO, A. C., BOSCH, A. & NAVARRO, X. (2020). Gene therapy for overexpressing Neuregulin 1 type I in skeletal muscles promotes functional improvement in the SOD1(G93A) ALS mice. *Neurobiology of Disease* 137, 104793.

- MOLONEY, E. B., DE WINTER, F. & VERHAAGEN, J. (2014). ALS as a distal axonopathy: molecular mechanisms affecting neuromuscular junction stability in the presymptomatic stages of the disease. *Frontiers in Neuroscience* **8**, 252.
- Moss, B. L. & SCHUETZE, S. M. (1987). Development of rat soleus endplate membrane following denervation at birth. *Journal of Neurobiology* 18(1), 101–118.
- MURRAY, L. M., BEAUVAIS, A., BHANOT, K. & KOTHARY, R. (2013). Defects in neuromuscular junction remodelling in the Smn(2B/-) mouse model of spinal muscular atrophy. *Neurobiology of Disease* 49, 57–67.
- NADAL, L., GARCIA, N., HURTADO, E., SIMO, A., TOMAS, M., LANUZA, M. A., SANTAFE, M. & TOMAS, J. (2016). Presynaptic muscarinic acetylcholine autoreceptors (M1, M2 and M4 subtypes), adenosine receptors (A1 and A2A) and tropomyosin-related kinase B receptor (TrkB) modulate the developmental synapse elimination process at the neuromuscular junction. *Molecular Brain* 9(1), 67.
- NEGRO, S., LESSI, F., DUREGOTTI, E., ARETINI, P., LA FERLA, M., FRANCESCHI, S., MENICAGLI, M., BERGAMIN, E., RADICE, E., THELEN, M., MEGIGHIAN, A., PIRAZZINI, M., MAZZANTI, C. M., RIGONI, M. & MONTECUCCO, C. (2017). CXCL12alpha/SDF-1 from perisynaptic Schwann cells promotes regeneration of injured motor axon terminals. *EMBO Molecular Medicine* 9(8), 1000–1010.
- NEGRO, S., ZANETTI, G., MATTAREI, A., VALENTINI, A., MEGIGHIAN, A., TOMBESI, G., ZUGNO, A., DIANIN, V., PIRAZZINI, M., FILLO, S., LISTA, F., RIGONI, M. & MONTECUCCO, C. (2019). An agonist of the CXCR4 receptor strongly promotes regeneration of degenerated motor axon terminals. *Cells* 8(10), 1183.
- NICOLE, S., CHAOUCH, A., TORBERGSEN, T., BAUCHE, S., DE BRUYCKERE, E., FONTENILLE, M. J., HORN, M. A., VAN GHELUE, M., LOSETH, S., ISSOP, Y., COX, D., MULLER, J. S., EVANGELISTA, T., STALBERG, E., IOOS, C., et al. (2014). Agrin mutations lead to a congenital myasthenic syndrome with distal muscle weakness and atrophy. *Brain* 137(Pt 9), 2429–2443.
- NICOLINO, S., PANETTO, A., RAIMONDO, S., GAMBAROTTA, G., GUZZINI, M., FORNARO, M., BATTISTON, B., TOS, P., GEUNA, S. & PERROTEAU, I. (2009). Denervation and reinnervation of adult skeletal muscle modulate mRNA expression of neuregulin-1 and ErbB receptors. *Microsurgey* 29(6), 464–472.
- NISHIMUNE, H., VALDEZ, G., JARAD, G., MOULSON, C. L., MULLER, U., MINER, J. H. & SANES, J. R. (2008). Laminins promote postsynaptic maturation by an autocrine mechanism at the neuromuscular junction. *Journal of Cell Biology* 182(6), 1201–1215.
- OKADA, K., INOUE, A., OKADA, M., MURATA, Y., KAKUTA, S., JIGAMI, T., KUBO, S., SHIRAISHI, H., EGUCHI, K., MOTOMURA, M., AKIYAMA, T., IWAKURA, Y., HIGUCHI, O. & YAMANASHI, Y. (2006). The muscle protein Dok-7 is essential for neuromuscular synaptogenesis. *Science* **312**(5781), 1802–1805.
- OURY, J., LIU, Y., TOPF, A., TODOROVIC, S., HOEDT, E., PREETHISH-KUMAR, V., NEUBERT, T. A., LIN, W., LOCHMULLER, H. & BURDEN, S. J. (2019). MACF1 links Rapsyn to microtubule- and actin-binding proteins to maintain neuromuscular synapses. *Journal of Cell Biology* 218(5), 1686–1705.
- PAEZ-COLASANTE, X., FIGUEROA-ROMERO, C., SAKOWSKI, S. A., GOUTMAN, S. A. & FELDMAN, E. L. (2015). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: mechanisms and therapeutics in the epigenomic era. *Nature Reviews: Neurology* 11(5), 266–279.
- PALACE, J. (2012). DOK7 congenital myasthenic syndrome. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1275, 49–53.
- PEREZ-GARCIA, M. J. & BURDEN, S. J. (2012). Increasing MuSK activity delays denervation and improves motor function in ALS mice. *Cell Reports* 2(3), 497–502.
- PERSONIUS, K. E. & SAWYER, R. P. (2005). Terminal Schwann cell structure is altered in diaphragm of mdx mice. *Muscle and Nerve* **32**(5), 656–663.
- PEZINSKI, M., DASZCZUK, P., PRADHAN, B. S., LOCHMULLER, H. & PROSZYNSKI, T. J. (2020). An improved method for culturing myotubes on laminins for the robust clustering of postsynaptic machinery. *Scientific Reports* 10(1), 4524.
- PHILLIPS, W. D., NOAKES, P. G., ROBERDS, S. L., CAMPBELL, K. P. & MERLIE, J. P. (1993). Clustering and immobilization of acetylcholine receptors by the 43-kD protein: a possible role for dystrophin-related protein. *Journal of Cell Biology* **123**(3), 729–740.
- PONOMAREVA, O. N., MA, H., VOCK, V. M., ELLERTON, E. L., MOODY, S. E., DAKOUR, R., CHODOSH, L. A. & RIMER, M. (2006). Defective neuromuscular synaptogenesis in mice expressing constitutively active ErbB2 in skeletal muscle fibers. *Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences* 31(2), 334–345.
- PRATT, S. J. P., VALENCIA, A. P., LE, G. K., SHAH, S. B. & LOVERING, R. M. (2015). Pre- and postsynaptic changes in the neuromuscular junction in dystrophic mice. *Frontiers in Physiology* 6, 252.
- PROSZYNSKI, T. J., GINGRAS, J., VALDEZ, G., KRZEWSKI, K. & SANES, J. R. (2009). Podosomes are present in a postsynaptic apparatus and participate in its maturation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 106(43), 18373–18378.
- PUN, S., SANTOS, A. F., SAXENA, S., XU, L. & CARONI, P. (2006). Selective vulnerability and pruning of phasic motoneuron axons in motoneuron disease alleviated by CNTF. *Nature Neuroscience* 9(3), 408–419.

- PUN, S., SIGRIST, M., SANTOS, A. F., RUEGG, M. A., SANES, J. R., JESSELL, T. M., ARBER, S. & CARONI, P. (2002). An intrinsic distinction in neuromuscular junction assembly and maintenance in different skeletal muscles. *Neuron* 34(3), 357–370.
- RAIMONDO, T. M., LI, H., KWEE, B. J., KINSLEY, S., BUDINA, E., ANDERSON, E. M., DOHERTY, E. J., TALBOT, S. G. & MOONEY, D. J. (2019). Combined delivery of VEGF and IGF-1 promotes functional innervation in mice and improves muscle transplantation in rabbits. *Biomaterials* 216, 119246.
- REDFERN, P. A. (1970). Neuromuscular transmission in new-born rats. Journal of Physiology 209(3), 701–709.
- REYNOLDS, M. L. & WOOLF, C. J. (1992). Terminal Schwann cells elaborate extensive processes following denervation of the motor endplate. *Journal of Neurocytology* 21(1), 50–66.
- RIETHMACHER, D., SONNENBERG-RIETHMACHER, E., BRINKMANN, V., YAMAAI, T., LEWIN, G. R. & BIRCHMEIER, C. (1997). Severe neuropathies in mice with targeted mutations in the ErbB3 receptor. *Nature* 389(6652), 725–730.
- RIMER, M., PRIETO, A. L., WEBER, J. L., COLASANTE, C., PONOMAREVA, O., FROMM, L., SCHWAB, M. H., LAI, C. & BURDEN, S. J. (2004). Neuregulin-2 is synthesized by motor neurons and terminal Schwann cells and activates acetylcholine receptor transcription in muscle cells expressing ErbB4. *Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences* 26(2), 271–281.
- RODRIGUEZ CRUZ, P. M., COSSINS, J., CHEUNG, J., MAXWELL, S., JAYAWANT, S., HERBST, R., WAITHE, D., KORNEV, A. P., PALACE, J. & BEESON, D. (2020). Congenital myasthenic syndrome due to mutations in MUSK suggests that the level of MuSK phosphorylation is crucial for governing synaptic structure. *Human Mutation* 41(3), 619–631.
- ROTSHENKER, S. (2011). Wallerian degeneration: the innate-immune response to traumatic nerve injury. *Journal of Neuroinflammation* **8**, 109.
- RUDOLF, R., KHAN, M. M., LABEIT, S. & DESCHENES, M. R. (2014). Degeneration of neuromuscular junction in age and dystrophy. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience* 6, 99.
- SAKUMA, M., GORSKI, G., SHEU, S. H., LEE, S., BARRETT, L. B., SINGH, B., OMURA, T., LATREMOLIERE, A. & WOOLF, C. J. (2016). Lack of motor recovery after prolonged denervation of the neuromuscular junction is not due to regenerative failure. *European Journal of Neuroscience* 43(3), 451–462.
- SANES, J. R. & LICHTMAN, J. W. (2001). Induction, assembly, maturation and maintenance of a postsynaptic apparatus. *Nature Reviews: Neuroscience* 2(11), 791–805.
- SANTOSA, K. B., KEANE, A. M., JABLONKA-SHARIFF, A., VANNUCCI, B. & SNYDER-WARWICK, A. K. (2018). Clinical relevance of terminal Schwann cells: an overlooked component of the neuromuscular junction. *Journal of Neuroscience Research* 96(7), 1125–1135.
- SAVASTANO, L. E., LAURITO, S. R., FITT, M. R., RASMUSSEN, J. A., GONZALEZ POLO, V. & PATTERSON, S. I. (2014). Sciatic nerve injury: a simple and subtle model for investigating many aspects of nervous system damage and recovery. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods* 227, 166–180.
- SCHEIB, J. & HOKE, A. (2013). Advances in peripheral nerve regeneration. Nature Reviews: Neurology 9(12), 668–676.
- SHI, L., BUTT, D., IP, F. C., DAI, Y., JIANG, L., YUNG, W. H., GREENBERG, M. E., FU, A. K. & IP, N. Y. (2010). Ephexin1 is required for structural maturation and neurotransmission at the neuromuscular junction. *Neuron* 65(2), 204–216.
- SHI, L., FU, A. K. & IP, N. Y. (2012). Molecular mechanisms underlying maturation and maintenance of the vertebrate neuromuscular junction. *Trends in Neurosciences* 35(7), 441–453.
- SHYNG, S. L. & SALPETER, M. M. (1989). Degradation rate of acetylcholine receptors inserted into denervated vertebrate neuromuscular junctions. *Journal of Cell Biology* 108(2), 647–651.
- SLATER, C. R. (1982). Neural influence on the postnatal changes in acetylcholine receptor distribution at nerve-muscle junctions in the mouse. *Developmental Biology* 94(1), 23–30.
- SLATER, C. R. (2008a). Reliability of neuromuscular transmission and how it is maintained. *Handbook of Clinical Neurology* 91, 27–101.
- SLATER, C. R. (2008b). Structural factors influencing the efficacy of neuromuscular transmission. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1132, 1–12.
- SLATER, C. R. (2020). 'Fragmentation' of NMJs: a sign of degeneration or regeneration? A long journey with many junctions. *Neuroscience* 439, 28–40.
- SMITH, I. W., MIKESH, M., LEE, Y. & THOMPSON, W. J. (2013). Terminal Schwann cells participate in the competition underlying neuromuscular synapse elimination. *Journal of Neuroscience* 33(45), 17724–17736.
- SON, Y. J. & THOMPSON, W. J. (1995). Nerve sprouting in muscle is induced and guided by processes extended by Schwann cells. *Neuron* 14(1), 133–141.
- STAFFORD, C. A., SHEHAB, S. A., NONA, S. N. & CRONLY-DILLON, J. R. (1990). Expression of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) in goldfish optic nerve following injury. *Glia* 3(1), 33–42.
- STEINBACH, J. H. (1981). Developmental changes in acetylcholine receptor aggregates at rat skeletal neuromuscular junctions. *Developmental Biology* 84(2), 267–276.

- STRACK, S., KHAN, M. M., WILD, F., RALL, A. & RUDOLF, R. (2015). Turnover of acetylcholine receptors at the endplate revisited: novel insights into nerve-dependent behavior. *Journal of Muscle Research and Cell Motility* 36(6), 517–524.
- STRACK, S., PETERSEN, Y., WAGNER, A., RODER, I. V., ALBRIZIO, M., REISCHL, M., WACKER, I. U., WILHELM, C. & RUDOLF, R. (2011). A novel labeling approach identifies three stability levels of acetylcholine receptors in the mouse neuromuscular junction in vivo. *PLoS One* 6(6), e20524.
- SUGIURA, Y. & LIN, W. (2011). Neuron-glia interactions: the roles of Schwann cells in neuromuscular synapse formation and function. *Bioscience Reports* 31(5), 295–302.
- SULAIMAN, O. A. & GORDON, T. (2000). Effects of short- and long-term Schwann cell denervation on peripheral nerve regeneration, myelination, and size. *Glia* 32(3), 234–246.
- TALLON, C., RUSSELL, K. A., SAKHALKAR, S., ANDRAPALLAYAL, N. & FARAH, M. H. (2016). Length-dependent axo-terminal degeneration at the neuromuscular synapses of type II muscle in SOD1 mice. *Neuroscience* 312, 179–189.
- TAPIA, J. C., WYLIE, J. D., KASTHURI, N., HAYWORTH, K. J., SCHALEK, R., BERGER, D. R., GUATIMOSIM, C., SEUNG, H. S. & LICHTMAN, J. W. (2012). Pervasive synaptic branch removal in the mammalian neuromuscular system at birth. *Neuron* 74(5), 816–829.
- TOMAS, J., GARCIA, N., LANUZA, M. A., SANTAFE, M. M., TOMAS, M., NADAL, L., HURTADO, E., SIMO, A. & CILLEROS, V. (2017). Presynaptic membrane receptors modulate ACh release, axonal competition and synapse elimination during neuromuscular junction development. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience* 10, 132.
- TRINIDAD, J. C., FISCHBACH, G. D. & COHEN, J. B. (2000). The Agrin/MuSK signaling pathway is spatially segregated from the neurogulin/ErbB receptor signaling pathway at the neuromuscular junction. *Journal of Neuroscience* 20(23), 8762–8770.
- TSAY, H. J. & SCHMIDT, J. (1989). Skeletal muscle denervation activates acetylcholine receptor genes. *Journal of Cell Biology* **108**(4), 1523–1526.
- TURNEY, S. G. & LICHTMAN, J. W. (2012). Reversing the outcome of synapse elimination at developing neuromuscular junctions in vivo: evidence for synaptic competition and its mechanism. *PLoS Biology* **10**(6), e1001352.
- VALDEZ, G., TAPIA, J. C., KANG, H., CLEMENSON, G. D. JR., GAGE, F. H., LICHTMAN, J. W. & SANES, J. R. (2010). Attenuation of age-related changes in mouse neuromuscular synapses by caloric restriction and exercise. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 107(33), 14863–14868.
- VALENZUELA, D. M., STITT, T. N., DISTEFANO, P. S., ROJAS, E., MATTSSON, K., COMPTON, D. L., NUNEZ, L., PARK, J. S., STARK, J. L., GIES, D. R., THOMAS, S., LE BEAU, M. M., FERNALD, A. A., COPELAND, N. G., JENKINS, N. A., et al. (1995). Receptor tyrosine kinase specific for the skeletal muscle lineage: expression in embryonic muscle, at the neuromuscular junction, and after injury. *Neuron* 15(3), 573–584.
- VAN DER PIJL, E. M., VAN PUTTEN, M., NIKS, E. H., VERSCHUUREN, J. J., AARTSMA-RUS, A. & PLOMP, J. J. (2016). Characterization of neuromuscular synapse function abnormalities in multiple Duchenne muscular dystrophy mouse models. *European Journal of Neuroscience* **43**(12), 1623–1635.
- VANHAESEBROUCK, A. E. & BEESON, D. (2019). The congenital myasthenic syndromes: expanding genetic and phenotypic spectrums and refining treatment strategies. *Current Opinion in Neurology* **32**(5), 696–703.
- VANSAUN, M., HUMBURG, B. C., ARNETT, M. G., PENCE, M. & WERLE, M. J. (2007). Activation of Matrix Metalloproteinase-3 is altered at the frog neuromuscular junction following changes in synaptic activity. *Developmental Neurobiology* 67(11), 1488–1497.
- VILLALON, E., SHABABI, M., KLINE, R., LORSON, Z. C., FLOREA, K. M. & LORSON, C. L. (2018). Selective vulnerability in neuronal populations in nmd/SMARD1 mice. *Human Molecular Genetics* 27(4), 679–690.

- VILLARROEL, A. & SAKMANN, B. (1996). Calcium permeability increase of endplate channels in rat muscle during postnatal development. *Journal of Physiology* **496**(Pt 2), 331–338.
- VINSANT, S., MANSFIELD, C., JIMENEZ-MORENO, R., DEL GAIZO MOORE, V., YOSHIKAWA, M., HAMPTON, T. G., PREVETTE, D., CARESS, J., OPPENHEIM, R. W. & MILLIGAN, C. (2013). Characterization of early pathogenesis in the SOD1(G93A) mouse model of ALS: part II, results and discussion. *Brain and Behavior* 3(4), 431–457.
- VOCK, V. M., PONOMAREVA, O. N. & RIMER, M. (2008). Evidence for muscledependent neuromuscular synaptic site determination in mammals. *Journal of Neuroscience* 28(12), 3123–3130.
- WILD, F., KHAN, M. M., STRAKA, T. & RUDOLF, R. (2016). Progress of endocytic CHRN to autophagic degradation is regulated by RAB5-GTPase and T145 phosphorylation of SH3GLB1 at mouse neuromuscular junctions in vivo. *Autophagy* 12(12), 2300–2310.
- WITZEMANN, V., BARG, B., NISHIKAWA, Y., SAKMANN, B. & NUMA, S. (1987). Differential regulation of muscle acetylcholine receptor gamma- and epsilonsubunit mRNAs. *FEBS Letters* 223(1), 104–112.
- WRIGHT, M. C., POTLURI, S., WANG, X., DENTCHEVA, E., GAUTAM, D., TESSLER, A., WESS, J., RICH, M. M. & SON, Y. J. (2009). Distinct muscarinic acetylcholine receptor subtypes contribute to stability and growth, but not compensatory plasticity, of neuromuscular synapses. *Journal of Neuroscience* 29(47), 14942–14955.
- WU, H., LU, Y., SHEN, C., PATEL, N., GAN, L., XIONG, W. C. & MEI, L. (2012). Distinct roles of muscle and motoneuron LRP4 in neuromuscular junction formation. *Neuron* 75(1), 94–107.
- WU, H., XIONG, W. C. & MEI, L. (2010). To build a synapse: signaling pathways in neuromuscular junction assembly. *Development* 137(7), 1017–1033.
- XIE, M. H., YUAN, J., ADAMS, C. & GURNEY, A. (1997). Direct demonstration of MuSK involvement in acetylcholine receptor clustering through identification of agonist ScFv. *Nature Biotechnology* 15(8), 768–771.
- XU, R. & SALPETER, M. M. (1997). Acetylcholine receptors in innervated muscles of dystrophic mdx mice degrade as after denervation. *Journal of Neuroscience* 17(21), 8194–8200.
- YAN, M., XING, G. L., XIONG, W. C. & MEI, L. (2018). Agrin and LRP4 antibodies as new biomarkers of myasthenia gravis. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1413(1), 126–135.
- YANG, J. F., CAO, G., KOIRALA, S., REDDY, L. V. & KO, C. P. (2001). Schwann cells express active agrin and enhance aggregation of acetylcholine receptors on muscle fibers. *Journal of Neuroscience* 21(24), 9572–9584.
- YIN, H., PRICE, F. & RUDNICKI, M. A. (2013). Satellite cells and the muscle stem cell niche. *Physiological Reviews* 93(1), 23–67.
- YORK, A. L. & ZHENG, J. Q. (2017). Super-resolution microscopy reveals a nanoscale organization of acetylcholine receptors for trans-synaptic alignment at neuromuscular synapses. *eNeuro* 4(4), e0232-0217.2017.
- YUYAMA, K., YAMAMOTO, N. & YANAGISAWA, K. (2006). Chloroquine-induced endocytic pathway abnormalities: Cellular model of GM1 ganglioside-induced Abeta fibrillogenesis in Alzheimer's disease. *FEBS Letters* 580(30), 6972–6976.
- ZHANG, B., LUO, S., WANG, Q., SUZUKI, T., XIONG, W. C. & MEI, L. (2008). LRP4 serves as a coreceptor of agrin. *Neuron* 60(2), 285–297.
- ZHAO, K., SHEN, C., LU, Y., HUANG, Z., LI, L., RAND, C. D., PAN, J., SUN, X. D., TAN, Z., WANG, H., XING, G., CAO, Y., HU, G., ZHOU, J., XIONG, W. C., et al. (2017). Muscle Yap is a regulator of neuromuscular junction formation and regeneration. *Journal of Neuroscience* **37**(13), 3465–3477.
- ZHU, X. Y., CHADE, A. R., KRIER, J. D., DAGHINI, E., LAVI, R., GUGLIELMOTTI, A., LERMAN, A. & LERMAN, L. O. (2009). The chemokine monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 contributes to renal dysfunction in swine renovascular hypertension. *Journal of Hypertension* 27(10), 2063–2073.

(Received 28 April 2020; revised 20 November 2020; accepted 25 November 2020; published online 17 December 2020)